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ADDENDUM #1 
 

To: ALL PROSPECTIVE FIRMS 
 
Re: INVITATION FOR BIDS: RFP 15-037-CW, Request for Proposals, Courts Case Management System 
 
The Invitation for Bids, referenced above, is modified as follows: 

Inclusions and Corrections:  

1. The names of responding firms will be publicly read on Thursday, February 5, 2015 in the Macon-Bibb 
County Procurement Department Conference Room, located on the 8th floor of the Government Center Annex 
Building, 682 Cherry Street, Macon GA 31201. 
 

2. Terms and Conditions provided as Attachment “A” to this addendum (replaces the broken link on page 12 of the 
original solicitation). 
 

3. Updated tables included Attachment “B” to this addendum (replaces tables in the original solicitation – corrects 
language that was cut off in the original tables).   

 

Questions & Answers: 

1. Format of source data to be provided for conversion (SQL Database, Oracle database, XML, ASCII, 
AS/400, other- please specify)?  Files are stored in VSAM using Key Sequenced Data Set (KSDS) or 
Entry Sequenced Data Set (ESDS) data formats. SQL and Oracle database. 
 

2. Number of tables?  There are no tables, or tables/fields.  There is no similarity to Structured Query 
Language (SQL)/Oracle database storage; the data/information is contained in files stored in the format 
listed above. 
 

3. Number of major tables (tables with > 1000 records)?  N/A 
 

4. Average number of records per major table (tables with > 1000 records)? N/A 
 
 
 



5. Average number of columns per major table (tables with > 1000 records)?
There are no tables.  There are files that contain over 1000 record IDs and related information (estimate
that requires verification 30 to 50 files of this nature).

6. Is there schema documentation available for source database?  Documentation is very limited; however,
IBM/Mainline Services is conducting an Operating System upgrade and the level of documentation
should be increased as part of that upgrade.

7. Will there be a technical resource available for any questions regarding source data?  Yes

8. Are there document images to be converted? Yes
a. If Yes, specify format of document images (TIFF, PDF, other-please specify)? TIFF and PDF
b. How many document images? 30 million images.  20M in LaserVault, 10 million in other
databases for Superior Court Clerk and Probate. 

Questions & Answers related to System and Vendor Requirements 

TM-1—Is this data entered directly into the case management system or is this data being electronically 
transmitted from a third party system?  If the data is coming from a third party system what format is the 
data being exported?  Entered in directly. 

TM-2—Is the ticket and imaging manually entered into the case management system or is it being 
electronically transmitted from a third party system?  If the data is coming from a third party system what 
format is the data being exported?  No – No third party, imaging is manually done and tickets are 
scanned into the data imaging system Canon DR7550C scanner.  

TM-7—Are the handwritten tickets being entered directly into the case management system or is this data 
being electronically transmitted from a third party system?  If the data is coming from a third party system 
what format is the data being exported?  No, see above.  

TM-11—Do you have an example of the “Warrant Clear” screen?  No – no example can be provided as 
active cancellation in order to even retrieve the screen. 

TM-13—How does this data get into the case management system?   Automated – entered by the Canon 
DR7550C scanner (for Municipal Court).   

CC-5—Part of this requirement is not visible.  Please restate the requirement.  Do you currently have access 
to the National Change of Address Database?  Bibb County Courts does not have access to the database, 
but Xerox can access when needed. 

WM-1—Which private probation service are you currently using?  Does this probation service allow access 
to their system?  Do they have a published API?  Will the private probation service export information to a 
file for retrieval?  Will the Macon PD vendor allow access to their system or will they export warrant 
information to a file for retrieval? State Court and Municipal Court do not use a private probation 
service.  Superior Court misdemeanor uses GA Probation Mgt.  Bibb County State Court probation 
handles misdemeanor probation services for Bibb County State Court as well as Municipal Court 

WM-2—What are the expectations for the GCIC and NCIC Interfaces? The system must be able interface 
to their web site.  For probate court the system must be able to interface with a third party vendor- Eagle 
Services and Police and Sheriff’s Press. Which data elements are involved?  All 

WM-3—What is your process to validate warrants before entering into GCIC and NCIC?  Will the GCIC 
and NCIC data entry occur on a stand-alone terminal?  The entry of that data occurs on a web based site- 
external. 

WM-5—What type of reports are required?  Is this referring to the total number of warrants issued, served, 
attempted service, etc.?  When referring to “dollars” is this bond amount of the warrants?  

WM-6—Do you have a sample of the “Warrant Clear” screen?  No – no example can be provided as active 
cancellation in order to even retrieve the screen. 



  
BT-1—Which third party system is being referenced in this requirement? Will the data be exported to a file 
for import into the case management system?   Do the private towing companies have their own software 
system, or are you requesting the private towing companies have limited access to the case management 
system?  Services are not being utilized. 
 
BT-2—Is this data electronically exported from the Macon PD system?  If so, will it be sent to a file for 
import into the case management system, or do court personnel manually enter it?  Do you want to allow 
non-court personnel access to view this data in the case management system?  Sheriff’s Department – this 
really does not exist. 
 
BT-3—Is this data electronically exported from the Macon PD System or do court personnel manually enter 
it?  No – this service does not exist, no booting is being performed. 
 
BT-4—How does the boot eligibility information get into the case management system?  Please explain this 
process.  No – this service does not exist, no booting is being performed. 
 
BT-6—Is the case management system the repository for this information?  Which system will this 
information be exported to, or will the Macon PD personnel login to the case management system to 
retrieve this information? System is not active. 
 
BT-7—Is this information imported from a third party system into the case management application? Do 
you anticipate this access via a public portal or will authorized uses login to the case management system?  
No. 

 
General Questions: 

 
1. Could the Courts provide the systems that are being used by each of the courts/agencies and what 

technology each solution is based on? For the most part, the Courts are running a homegrown case 
management system on an IBM mainframe. Superior Court is using Verdict for Case management, 
Resolution for real estate, Iron data for jury management, nCourt for credit, debit and online payment 
(Civil also uses).  EzCourt Pay for online payment, credit and debit Probate and Civil. Probate uses 
Probate Court Manager used for case management written by Criminal Justice Technologies.  Can a bid 
be submitted to accommodate only certain courts? Yes 
 

2. Does the Court have an eFiling vendor currently? Civil uses nCourt, Superior Court uses Tyler eFile 
Georgia, Child support through State of Georgia. Probate, State, Municipal no systems. 
 

3. For what courts and case types would the court desire to have eFiling for? All Courts desire eFiling.  Case 
types to be determined. 
 

4. Will eFiling be voluntary or required for these types?  Voluntary 
 

5. Does the court have a payment gateway that they currently use? Yes 
 

6. Will the court accept a hosted solution?  An on premise solution is preferred, but the courts will entertain 
the idea of a hosted solution. 
 

7. Would the court consider a solution if it met the functional requirements if it was based on a different 
technology?  More consideration will be given to those systems that meet the desired technology 
requirements, but different technology is acceptable.  Please be specific in the hardware/network 
requirements section in the pricing matrix. 
 

8. Can the Courts provide a list of the standard Federal and State reports they use? It is the responsibility of 
the vendor to know what reports are required in the State of Georgia. 
 

9. Can the Courts specify the level of integration needed for Tracker, Sheriff’s system, GCIC etc.?  That will 
be determined as we see the capabilities of each solution.  For now, assume bi-directional interfaces. 
 

10. Would the Court’s consider extending the due date to be 14 days after all responses to questions are 
provided to allow vendors to account for these answers in their response? We are trying to get addendum 1 



out by January 23, 2015.  This gives almost two weeks to incorporate the answers into your responses.  
Bibb County Courts has a strong desire to stay on the schedule provided in the RFP. 

11. The RFP discusses the need to include a data conversion plan, but does not specify any information on the 
systems that are currently being used or data requirements for what should be converted.  Could the Courts 
elaborate on this requirement?  More detail on what will be converted will be determined based on the 
vendor selected.  The purpose of the data plan at this point is to understand your data conversion 
process.  Please provide an estimate based on converting data from a homegrown mainframe solution as 
well as the documents identified in section 1, question 8. 
 

12. Can you please clarify whether a bond is or is not required with our bid submission?  A bond is not 
required. 
 

13. The RFP states that Vendors must require no payment until the court has accepted the system for go-live. 
Would the courts be willing to accept a change made up of payments in phases?  Yes.  The Court 
anticipates milestone payments based on acceptance.  Final terms will be negotiated. 
 

14. What is needed with online cashiering?  What types of payments will the system be handling? Fees, fines, 
restitution, child support 
 

15. What is the maximum number of users that will be logged into the system at one time?  There will be 
roughly 200 users of the system.  Assume that all could be logged on at the same time. 
 

16. Is there a need for mobile access? Yes. 
 

17. Do you have a preference to the order in which the courts go live? Phase 1- State Court Clerk and State 
Court Probation, Civil and Magistrate. Phase 2- Municipal Court (by October 2015). Phase 3- Superior  
and Probate 
 

18. The link to the County terms and conditions does not work.  Will you check on this for us?  A new link has 
been provided.  Also, you can go to the Macon-Bibb County website and view documents under the 
Procurement Department. 
 

19. Section 2.0, page 4, 1st paragraph list 190 users of the current system.  Can you provide a breakout of the 
number of users that need to be trained by Court?   

 
   Civil and Magistrate-  20 
   Municipal-  20 
   Probate-   14 
   State Court-  48 
   Superior Court-  39 
   DA-   50 
 
20. We interpret the data conversion requirements as converting 3 current but separate systems into one new 

system/data base: 1) the mainframe system used by all courts except Superior & Probate; 2) the system used 
by Superior Court; 3) the system used by Probate Court. 
a.      Is this correct? Yes. 
b.      If not, is the only requirement for data conversion the mainframe system? 
c.      Can you provide the case management vendor(s) or system used by Superior & Probate Courts? See 
answer in question #1, General Questions. 
  

21. Are the Courts currently using dashboards?  If so, what information is displayed?  No, moving to 
Dashboards is an objective of this project. 
 

22. In regards to TCO-9, what business rules do the Courts use?  Do you have examples?  Each Court has 
different rules.  The software should provide the capability to allow the Court to configure business rules 
and workflow as it pertains to the Court. 
 

23. In regards to CT-8, what is considered statue enhancers and modifiers? An enhancer or modifier is any 
change associated with an existing Statute. 
 

24. In regards to CT-21, what is an example of a civil or criminal checklist currently used?  Checklists typically 
contain events that differ based upon case type, case category, or other case data 



 
25. In regards to CM-3, who enters the work queue assignments?  Administrative personnel that differ by 

court. 
 

26. In regards to DC-16, does this refer to running statistical reports and case listing, etc., or something else?  
What is meant is the Courts desire a tool that allows for the analysis of data, more than just running a 
report.  The example given uses “cube” technology to allow users to drag and drop fields to create ad 
hoc analysis reports. 
 

27. In regards to C-7, would a document be submitted at this point in time with next step intentions and court 
personnel enter the data, or, would the Party interface to enter the data directly into the database at check 
in?  The Courts are asking how the software would handle this situation.  They are seeking a more 
automated, and less paper driven process. 
 

28. In regards to DP-1,2, are these particular web services read only or is the API a portal for data entry?  Web 
services are used to integrate data either one direction, or bidirectional between two separate systems. 
 

29. In regards to TM-6, is this referring to tracking whether a notice has been printed and sent within a case or 
“mail management” type area in the software that also generates postage to print on envelopes?  Both 
capabilities are desired. 
 

30. In regards to DR-6, is this outside agency reporting?  Is this a request for a portal/data exchange or let debt 
recovery have access to the database?  This is an internal report that is automatically generated on a 
monthly basis and transmitted to the Clerk of Court (or at least provide access to the report). 
 

31. In regards to TS-16, does this refer to a court user photo or defendant photo?  Could be both as attached to 
a case. 
 

32. Does Bibb County Court have a Drug Court?  Will this court be included in the case management system or 
would this require a separate application.? Bibb County Courts does have a Drug Court, utilizing their 
own system. An interface may be necessary. 

 
 
 
Please incorporate this change into the Invitation for Bid and acknowledge receipt of this addendum on your bid form.  

 

Sincerely,      
 
            
Nyesha Daley, MBA, CPPB 
Director of Procurement  



Attachment “A” 



Attachment “B” 
 
VENDOR RELIABILITY & COMMITMENT TO IMPLEMENTATION SUCCESS 
 

# REQUIREMENT COMPLIES 

YES PARTIAL NO 

VR Vendor Reliability & Commitment to Implementation Success 

VR-1 Payment: Vendor must require no payment until the court has accepted 
the system for go-live. 

   

Response: 

VR-2 Training: Vendor must provide a fixed cost for administrative and 
configuration training prior to go-live. 

   

Response: 

VR-3 Training: Vendor must provide sufficient detailed training to allow 
Court project team to participate in the configuration process, thus 
reducing overall project costs to Court. In particular, vendor must 
provide instruction on configuring screens, creating and managing 
document templates, configuring searches, creating custom reports, 
automating workflow processes, building business rules, configuring 
accounting, and administering other aspects of the solution. 

   

Response: 

VR-4 PMP certification: Vendor must include at least one PMP-certified 
individual on proposed project team. 

   

Response: 
VR-5 Ongoing training: After go-live, Vendor must provide regular training 

opportunities through webinars, user conferences, annual onsite training, 
newsletters, etc. 

   

Response: 
VR-6 New releases: Vendor should offer at least two new software releases or 

updates each year. These should be included at no additional charge, as 
part of the agreement. 

   

Response: 

 
 
TOTAL COST OF OWNERSHIP 
 

# REQUIREMENT COMPLIES 

YES PARTIAL NO 

TCO Total Cost of Ownership for Solution 

TCO-1 Browser-based: System must natively operate on our choice of either 
modern browser: Internet Explorer 11+, Firefox, Chrome, and Safari. 

   

Response: 

TCO-2 Server OS: Case Management System must run in an SQL environment.    

Response: 

TCO-3 Configurable: For maximum value to the court, the system must be a 
commercial off-the-shelf court case management system framework that 
allows Courts to meet our current case management needs, and adapt to 
future changes. It must provide the courts with the ability to flexibly 
configure a wide variety of screens, workflow, searches, time standards, 
time slots, and courtroom processes, using all case and case-related 
metadata. 

   

Response: 
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TCO-4 User-specific dashboards: Software should allow users to manage their 

own dashboards, without having to rely on or pay the vendor to do this. 

   

Response: 

TCO-5 Create screens: Software must allow court’s administrative users to be 
able to create screens, define required fields, define its own validation 
warning and error messages, and configure a number of screen attributes 
without having to rely on or pay vendor. 

   

Response: 

TCO-6 Update statutes: Software must allow court’s administrative users to 
update all statutes, fees, etc. whenever new legislation is received without 
having to relying on or waiting for the vendor. 

   

Response: 

TCO-7 Build integrations: Software must allow the courts to create an unlimited 
number of integrations to other applications or partner agencies through use 
of a web services API. 

   

Response: 

TCO-8 Create new reports: The software must allow the court to build new 
reports or alter existing ones without vendor assistance. 

   

Response: 

TCO-9 Create business rules: The software must allow the court’s 
administrative users to create new business rules or change existing ones 
without vendor assistance. 

   

Response: 

TCO-10 Upgrades included: All software upgrades (including major and minor 
versions), service releases (patches), and updated system documentation 
must be provided at no additional cost as part of the agreement. 

   

Response: 
TCO-11 Metadata: The software must provide the ability to add fields to existing 

tables; to add new tables to the system; to configure new fields on 
screens; and to rename fields on screens, without relying on or paying 
vendor. 
These changes must be supported by subsequent version updates at 
no additional cost. 

   

Response: 
TCO-12 Data Dictionary and Database table relationship information must be available 

to Courts for use in creating Court’s custom views. 
   

Response: 

 
CASE TRACKING 
 

# REQUIREMENT COMPLIES 

YES PARTIAL NO 

CT Case Tracking 

CT-1 Track event and case information: The software must be able to track 
all relevant event information; charges and charge information; law 
enforcement, victims, witnesses, and other case-involved persons; 
sentencing information (including sentence credit and suspended time); 
court conditions; notes; and other case information. 

   

Response: 
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CT-2 Track court information: The software must track court-defined attorney 

and court information, including, but not limited to: court location, docket 
number, judge name, court notes, all attorneys involved, and attorney date 
assignment. 

   

Response: 
CT-3 Track charges: For statistical purposes the software must be able to track 

arresting charge, amended charges, and final charges. Users must be able 
to track location information for the charge(s), as well as the sentence, 
sentence credit and suspended time, and location for each charge. For 
cases with multiple charges, the software must allow users to repeat 
similar charge information automatically. 

   

Response: 
CT-4 Case Management: Software must allow the capture of unlimited charges 

within a case record, and allow each charge to be individually modified 
and disposed. 

   

Response: 
CT-5 Track testing and results: The software must be able to track substance 

abuse testing (including drug and alcohol) and test results. Software must 
have the ability to automatically create court-defined documents, events, 
and notifications based off these results. 

   

Response: 
CT-6 Track court conditions: The software must be able to track court 

conditions placed on a case, including non-monetary provisions such as 
work programs, and community service. 

   

Response: 
CT-7 Track compliance: The software must track progress, compliance, 

and completion on referrals for services and programs  including 
counseling, treatment, education, and employment and allow for the 
automatic creation of court defined documents, reports, events, and 
notifications based on progress, compliance, and referral  statuses. 

   

Response: 
CT-8 Track modifiers: The software must track statute enhancers and 

modifiers. 
   

Response: 
CT-9 Assign and reassign cases: The software must allow court to assign and 

reassign cases to individuals and teams/divisions both manually and 
automatically, individually and in bulk. 

   

 Response: 
CT-10 Join related cases: Users must be able to join (with a soft record … not 

consolidate) an unlimited number of related cases, and indicate the reason 
why the cases are joined (scheduling, multi-defendant, financials, or any 
other codified value). 

   

Response: 
CT-11 View all case persons: The software must allow users to view all persons 

involved in a case on one screen, including the defendant, 
representative(s), law enforcement officer(s), witness (es), victim(s), 
parent(s)/guardian(s) if juvenile. Users should be able to hyperlink directly 
from the list to the referenced case or name record. 

   

Response: 
CT-12 Multiple case identifiers: The software must be able to categorize a case 

with multiple identifiers for reporting purposes (e.g., DWI, Domestic 
Violence, Drug Court, Capital Punishment, Divorce, Bond Forfeiture, and 
Eviction). 

   

Response: 
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CT-13 Define numbering rules: The software must be able to define rules for 

case numbers and be able to include letters, numbers, and other symbols as 
part of the convention (e.g., JAN-010, TR-113-2004, etc.). 

   

Response: 
CT-14 Reopen cases: The software must be able to reopen previously closed 

cases retaining previous case closure and current reopening information. 
   

Response: 
CT-15 Correspondence: The software must be able to track correspondence by 

individual involvement to a particular case. 
   

Response: 
CT-16 Data formatting: The software must apply data entry formatting in 

applicable number fields (e.g., Phone number (xxx) xxx-xxxx, ext. xx, zip 
code xxxxx). 

   

Response: 
CT-17 Differential Case Management: The software must fully support 

differential case management, where different case types have different 
timelines and time standards that as they expire or are completed prompt 
different results. 

   

Response: 
CT-18 Copy case: The software must be able to easily copy entire case 

information or selected information including charges, persons, 
documents, and events. 

   

Response: 
CT-19 Notes: The system must provide a notes utility that allows for the easy 

capture of free text. The notes must allow the user to share the note court- 
wide, or make the note private, or share the note with certain users in the 
system’s user directory. Users must be able to reply to a note. 

   

Response: 
CT-20 Notes Library: The system must provide a notes library that allows users to 

organize their own notes, including lists, sentences and paragraphs that can 
be one-click copied and pasted into a case note. 

   

Response: 
CT-21 Checklists: The system must provide a checklist feature that will 

automatically add predefined checklists to a case. This feature must allow 
different checklists to be added to a case depending upon the case type, 
case category, or other case data. 

   

Response: 
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NAME TRACKING 
 

# REQUIREMENT COMPLIES 

YES PARTIAL NO 

NT Name Tracking 

NT-1 Single name entry: The software must accommodate single name/party 
record entry in a fully relational table (i.e., a name/party is entered only 
once and can then be linked with case information anywhere else in the 
application). Users must be able to search for and update a name’s unique 
identifier for the purpose of maintaining a common listing for a single 
person. 

   

Response: 
NT-2 Contact information: The software must be able to track an unlimited 

number of addresses, phone numbers, and e-mails for any name. The 
software must track the dates any contact information is changed with 
effective from and to dates. The software must be able to display former 
contact information using formatting such as italics, gray font, etc. 

   

Response: 
NT-3 View all other cases for a person: The software must allow users to view 

all cases linked to a name, and from this view allow users to navigate with 
one click directly to a specific case. A name inquiry identifies, at a 
minimum: 
• All aliases and cases 
• Case status 
• The person's relationship to each case (e.g., defendant, victim, 

witness, or parent/guardian of juvenile) 
• Any associated charges 
• Any dollar amounts owed 
• Any alerts (warrant, arrest, probation) on any other case 

   

Response: 
NT-4 Charges: The software must be able to record an unlimited number of 

charges per case. 
   

Response: 
NT-5 Duplicate name: The software should provide duplicate name detection 

tools to prevent the database from becoming cluttered with duplicate 
name records. Administrators should be able to search for   duplicate 
name records using varying degrees of confidence.   Administrators 
should have the capability to merge duplicate names once   found. 

   

Response: 
NT-6 Auto-populate city and state: System should be able to auto-populate 

city and state when user enters the zip  code. 
   

Response: 
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CONFIGURABILITY TO MEET COURT’S SPECIFIC NEEDS 
 

# REQUIREMENT COMPLIES 

YES PARTIAL NO 

CM Configurability to Meet Court’s Specific Needs 

CM-1 Unlimited case types: The software must support unified case 
management. For example, the courts can define an unlimited number of 
additional case types, without purchasing additional case type specific 
modules. 

Each defined case type must support the following functionality: 
• When case types are entered, only relevant codes and values (i.e., 

events, documents, statutes) are displayed. 
• Only defined users or user groups can add or access specified case 

types. 
• Each defined case type can have different applicable defined 

business rules. 

   

Response: 

CM-2 Configure without source code: The courts must be able to configure 
software, as well as have software configured by vendor, without 
recompiling the software application or touching the source code. 

   

Response: 

CM-3 Dashboard work queue assignments: The system must display work 
queue assignments on the dashboard for the specific court user or team. 

   

Response: 

CM-4 Supervisor dashboard work queues: The system must include a 
supervisor view of the dashboard that provides management information 
about the status of tasks (high priority, due today / tomorrow / 2-3 days, 
etc.) for the work queue. 

   

Response: 

CM-5 Dashboard saved searches: The system must provide individual users 
with the ability to display searches that they save on their unique 
dashboard. 

   

Response: 

CM-6 Dashboard real-time searches: The system must provide individual 
users with a search function that displays real-time results whenever the 
dashboard is displayed or refreshed. 

   

Response: 
CM-7 Configurable screens: The court must be able to create screens for each 

of their different case types—including unique screen displays, fields, 
coded values, system views, time standards, alerts, documents, and 
balances due. 

   

Response: 

CM-8 Dynamic screens: The software must provide dynamic screen 
capability (i.e., variable information collected in section one will 
change the information that is displayed for entry in section t w o ). 

   

Response: 
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CM-9 Case automation rules: Solution must allow the court to create business 

rules that can automate workflow procedures without having to go 
through vendor. 

   

Response: 
CM-10 Trigger business rules: The system must provide the ability to trigger 

business rules in multiple ways, including based on an insert or update of 
a database value, a specific day/time, or the arrival of a new file in a 
networked folder. 

   

Response: 

 
DOCUMENT CAPABILITIES 
 

# REQUIREMENT COMPLIES 

YES PARTIAL NO 

DC Document Capabilities 

DC-1 Document Management System: The software must allow for any file 
type to be linked and run from the “electronic” case file, including but 
not limited to documents, images, audio, video, and email 
correspondence. Administrators and/or users should be able to lock files 
to other users when they have them open. 

   

Response: 
DC-2 Sealing: The software must allow the administrator to provide varying 

privileges relative to sealing and sealed information. Administrator should be 
able to designate personnel who can seal entire cases and particular 
documents, personnel who can see that sealed items exist without being able 
to access them, personnel who cannot see that sealed items exist, and 
personnel who can “unseal” sealed items. The seal feature must provide 
effective from and to dates. 

   

Response: 
DC -3 Search documents: All case and person data that is stored in the system 

must be able to be indexed and searched using native, configurable 
search forms. 

   

Response: 

DC -4 Document scanning: The software must contain a document scanning 
feature that allows users to scan documents directly into the CMS from a 
desktop-attached scanner. The software must allow users to highlight 
information and add notations on a document stored as a pdf. 

   

Response: 
DC -5 Document highlights and notations: The software must allow users to 

highlight information and add notations on a document stored as a pdf. 
   

Response: 
DC -6 Document moving and copying: The software must provide a document 

moving and copying function that allows the court to move or copy files 
from the electronic case file of one case record to the electronic case file 
of another case record. 

   

Response: 
DC -7 Document templates: System must enable the court to build an 

unlimited number and type of document templates (e.g., subpoenas, 
letters, receipts, appeals, etc.), using the court’s standard templates, in 
Microsoft Word. 

   

Response: 
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DC-8 Generate documents: System must be able to generate documents on 

demand, based on an event, or in batch at a specific time (including after- 
business hours). Automatically generated documents must be 
automatically linked to the appropriate case/person record for future 
reference. 

   

Response: 
DC-9 Document creation: The system should provide the ability to allow 

users to select variable information when they generate a document, 
including predefined information that can be added by clicking a radio 
button, and free text. 

   

Response: 
DC-10 Document editing: The system should allow users to edit and save back 

a document after it is generated to allow them to make further changes 
using the latest version of Microsoft Word. 

   

Response: 
DC-11 Signatures: The system must allow the court to associate a signature 

image to a specific court user, and apply that signature to a document as 
part of an automated process, or stamp the signature on a document as 
part of a manual workflow process. 

   

Response: 
DC-12 Signatures: The system must allow the court to use a tablet or touch 

screen device to sign a document with a tablet pen or fingertip. 
   

Response: 
DC-13 Batch documents: System must be able to print documents as part of a 

batch, either automatically or on demand. 
   

Response: 
DC-14 Standard Reports: System must generate Federal and State of Georgia 

standard reports that are required. Vendor must maintain compliance of 
these reports. 

   

Response: 
DC-15 Ad Hoc Reporting: end-user reporting capabilities must utilize excel pivot 

tables and/or SSRS technology to create the reports. 
   

Response: 
DC-16 Business Analytics: Must provide an analytic tool (e.g. MS Business 

Analytics) to allow n-tier analysis of data and report generation using excel 
pivot tables as UI 

   

Response: 

 
CALENDARS, DOCKETS AND COURTROOM 
 

# REQUIREMENT COMPLIES 

YES PARTIAL NO 

C Calendars and Dockets 

C-1 Calendars on dashboard: The software must allow individual and/or team 
calendars (depending on the person’s role) to be shown on an individual’s 
main “dashboard.” 

   

Response: 
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C-2 Calendar for events: The software must allow staff to view a calendar for 

their upcoming events and their office or division’s upcoming events. 
Calendars must allow for daily, weekly, and monthly views in a standard 
calendar format (such as Google Calendar or Microsoft Outlook). 

   

Response: 
C-3 Microsoft Exchange or Gmail: The software should include an outbound 

integration to Microsoft Exchange or Gmail. Events from an individual’s 
CMS calendar should automatically be imported into his/her Outlook or 
Gmail calendar. 

   

Response: 

C-4 Dockets: The software must allow users to create and  manage  
automatically re-occurring dockets. Users must be able to specify docket 
names, start and end dates, times, docket frequency, case types, event types, 
combinations and subsets of case/event types, and number of events in 
docket. The software should be able to display the docket calendar on a 
daily, weekly, or monthly basis, on a calendar view similar to Google 
Calendar or Microsoft Outlook. Users should be able to specify dockets as 
either active or inactive. Future events in inactive dockets should remain 
scheduled. 

   

Response: 

C-5 Scheduling & rescheduling events: When scheduling new events, the 
software should provide a drop-down calendar to enable users to easily 
view and choose the correct dates. 

   

Response: 

C-6 Courtroom Check-in: System must provide for configurable courtroom 
check-in features that allow users to quickly find a party’s docketed event, 
select whether the party requires a translator, make notes that are available 
for the courtroom staff to review, and alert the courtroom that the party or 
representative has checked-in. 

   

Response: 
C-7 Courtroom Next Step Intention: System must provide the ability for the 

user or the party, at check-in, to capture the party or representative’s next 
step intention (e.g.: guilty plea, nolo plea, discuss with solicitor, unknown, 
bench trial, etc.) for the purpose of streamlining the courtroom 
management. These next step intentions must be configurable by case type 
and/or judge. 

   

Response: 

C-8 Courtroom Processing: System must provide for configurable courtroom 
processing that allows the entry of text minutes, and also allows the entry 
of any case related data elements, such that the case related data elements 
will be saved back to the case from the courtroom processing application. 
Case related data elements must include sentences, sentence conditions, 
scheduled events, attorneys, case special statuses, and fines and fees. 

   

Response: 
C-9 Courtroom Minutes: Courtroom module must allow the user to click on 

quick links to add items to the minutes, or to type corresponding codes into 
a command line to quickly add items to the minutes. 

   

Response: 
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TIME SAVING & USER-FRIENDLY FEATURES 
 

# REQUIREMENT COMPLIES 

YES PARTIAL NO 

TS Time Saving & User-Friendly Features 

TS-1 Business Rules: Solution must include a business rules (workflow) engine 
that can be triggered based on database activity (e.g.: insert of a case, 
insert/update of a data element on a case, expiration of a time  standard),  
on a schedule, on demand, or when a file arrives at a network drive. 

   

Response: 
TS-2 Business rules: Business rules engine must be capable of automatically: 

• Closing cases based on Court-defined rules 
• Generating documents, events, system reports and notifications 

based on case closure or other event 
• Preventing users from closing cases unless other values are 

entered based on Court-defined rules (e.g., a case cannot be 
closed without a disposition). 

• Initiating the schedule of future tasks based on occurrence of 
prior tasks or events as defined by Court. 

• Notifying case-involved (and/or other) individuals of case status 
changes and other Court-specified events. 

• Routing cases and work tasks based on Court-specified rules and 
notifying users of those routed items. 

• Assigning attorneys based on a Court-specified case weighting 
system. 

• Triggering events, case status changes, documents, and 
correspondence based on prior events. 

• Disallowing users from saving and exiting a case without first 
saving mandatory fields (as specified by Court). 

   

Response: 
TS-3 Build new reports: Court must be able to build new reports or alter 

existing ones without vendor assistance. Users should not need highly 
technical skills in order to use report writing tool. Users must be able to 
format reports to accommodate multiple paper sizes and viewing layouts. 

   

Response: 
TS-4 Ad hoc tool: The software must include an ad hoc searching and reporting 

tool that provides the following functionality: 

• Drill down and hyperlink functionality 
• Automated, scheduled email reporting to staff and external 

stakeholders 
• Accessible within case management system (users should be able to 

view and create reports from within system) 
• Graphing functionality 
• Provides ability to export results to a number of different formats 

(e.g., Word, Excel, XML, CSV, PDF) 

   

Response: 
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TS-5 Search tools: The software must allow users to search for names, cases, 

and documents. Users must be able to search based on any information 
they have available (e.g., partial names, ID numbers, phone numbers, date 
of birth, addresses, case numbers, date ranges, etc.) Software must include 
wildcard search options. 

   

Response: 
TS-6 Search results – pivot format and totals: The software must be able to 

configurably create pivot table-like search results that display data and 
corresponding totals for the search results. The results must be viewable 
natively within the application. 

   

Response: 
TS-7 Search results: The software must be able to sort and list search results to 

allow users to quickly locate case, name, or document for which they are 
searching. Users should be able to hyperlink directly from search results to 
a specific section of a case or name record (e.g., case summary, scheduled 
events, party record). 

   

Response: 
TS-8 Ticklers: The software must allow Courts to define and display ticklers, 

alerts, and prompts. 
   

Response: 
TS-9 Shortcuts: Users must be able to navigate to views of data in the system 

using configurable shortcuts (e.g.: Ctrl+E opens the Add Event screen, 
and the court can change the shortcut to a different combination such as 
Ctrl+A, etc., if it wants to do so). 

   

Response: 
TS-10 Warnings and Error Messages: System must provide the ability to 

configure warnings and error messages on any configurable case 
initiation and data insert and update screen. These must be reasonably 
configurable on any table and on any data insert or update form; must 
allow the administrative user to point and click to select database 
values, including “and,” “or” and “in” statements; and provide the 
ability to use free text for the error or warning message. A warning 
message, when produced, must allow the user to saving entered data; 
an error message, when produced, must prevent the user from saving 
entered data. 

   

Response: 
TS-11 Visual prompts: The software must allow for visual alert prompts for 

users for key Court-defined name and case information, such as if an 
individual is a juvenile, has a warrant, has been arrested, owes money, etc. 

   

Response: 
TS-12 Tabs: Users must be able to have multiple cases open simultaneously on 

the desktop, using a tabbed layout (similar to most internet browsers). 
Users should be able to move away from cases/notes to work on another 
case without having to first save their work. 

   

Response: 
TS-13 User preferences: Individual users should be able to set their desktop 

theme, determine and select which items they want on their dashboard, 
and arrange the items on their dashboard. They should be able to create 
multiple dashboards. These settings must be saved for the particular 
user and appear as set-up when the user logs out and logs back into the 
system. 

   
 
 
 

Response: 
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TS-14 Hyperlinks: Case and name records should automatically hyperlink to 

other cases or names referenced within them, allowing users to open those 
as new tabs with a single click. The Court must also be able to turn off 
these hyperlinks and present them as text only if it so desires. 

   

Response: 
TS-15 Minimize data entry: The software must minimize data entry by 

allowing one name to be linked to an unlimited number of cases or other 
names, and one case to be linked to an unlimited number of other cases or 
names. Users should not need to duplicate entry of data elements. 

   

Response: 
TS-16 Client photo: The software must have a method to display and link a 

person’s photo. 
   

Response: 
TS-17 Auto-populate city: The software must auto-populate City and State by 

entering the zip code. 
   

Response: 

TS-18 Auto-filtering codes: The software must support auto-filtering on all 
coded lookup fields. For instance, typing 'M' in the Gender fields 
automatically fills 'Male' in the data entry box. 

   

Response: 

TS-19 Automatic notifications: The software must allow for automatic 
notification to users and attorneys of important case and event 
information. Court must be able to set up notifications, including time in 
advance they are sent, specific wording, and notification type (e.g., email, 
pop-up, other). 

   

Response: 
TS-20 Help notes: System must provide the ability for the court, without vendor 

assistance, to create a help note next to any configured field on any 
configurable insert, update and search screen. If notes are free text, the 
notes must be full text searchable. Help notes must also have the ability to 
store pdf, Word, video and audio files. 

   

Response: 
 
DATA SECURITY 
 

# REQUIREMENT COMPLIES 

YES PARTIAL NO 

DS Data Security 

DS-1 Navigation: System must allow for navigation profiles, such that a user’s 
profile will display defined screens to the user per court requirements. 

   

Response: 
DS-2 Security tools: System must provide security profiles that allow Court to 

create security groups that are assigned security attributes, and to those 
attributes we can assign privileges to case types, to data elements, and to 
system functions. System must also allow Court to utilize Access Control 
List restrictions that restrict a specific user from viewing a specific case, 
or restrict a specific case to be viewed. 

   

Response: 
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DS-3 Security Access Control Lists: System must also allow Court to utilize 

Access Control Lists that allow Court to enter a case number and either 
restrict a specific user from viewing / updating a specific case, or restrict a 
specific case for viewing / updating by a specific user. 

   

Response: 
DS-4 Control of tools: Court must be able to have full control of security tools 

(e.g., adding existing users to or taking them from security groups, 
adding/removing specific row-level privileges) without going through 
vendor. 

   

Response: 
DS-5 Create new profiles: Court must have the ability to create additional 

security profiles beyond defaults that come with the system and control 
what functions or data an individual or group can view, edit, or otherwise 
access. 

   

Response: 
DS-6 Multi-agency: The software must provide multi-agency, multi-division, 

and multi-jurisdiction security for case records, such that employees of 
one agency can be restricted from viewing or modifying the case records 
of another agency using the application, while still using the same master 
name database. Superior Court Clerks office must have their own 
database. 

   

Response: 
DS-7 Different access privileges: The software must support various types of 

access privileges including at least read-only, update, and no access. 
   

Response: 

DS-8 Auditing: The software must provide comprehensive auditing & logging 
giving administrators a granular view of what data is being edited, viewed, 
deleted, and added by system users. The software must track each instance 
of the date, time, login and machine (url) of the person who added or 
modified the record. 

   
 
 

Response: 
DS-9 Seal case elements: Users with sufficient privileges should be able to seal 

case elements, including the entire case and documents, pursuant to court 
order. 

   

Response: 

 
DATA SHARING & E-CAPABILITIES 
 

# REQUIREMENT COMPLIES 

YES PARTIAL NO 

DE Data Sharing & E-Capabilities  

DE-1 API included: Vendor must include an API (Web Services) that Court 
can use to integrate with other justice partners or software solutions. 

   

Response: 
DE-2 API easy to use: API must be intuitive enough to use by individuals with 

programming background, without requiring vendor assistance after 
training. 

   

Response: 
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DE-4 E-capabilities: Solution must include integrated e-capabilities, allowing 

Court to make information available, accept e-filings, provide discovery, 
and accept payments online. 

   

Response: 
DE-5 View-only web access: The software must provide secure, view-only 

access via the web for staff, administration, and external case participants 
(i.e. law enforcement officers, judges and even the public). 

For security purposes, the Court’s technical staff must be able to define 
accessible areas based on groups, roles, or users. For example, a law 
enforcement officer can only query certain areas of the software while the 
administrator can query the entire application. 

   

Response: 
DE-6 Multiple agencies: Court may wish to add additional justice partners onto 

solution. Thus, solution must be able to be configured for multiple agency 
types, agencies, and divisions uniquely, with each group having unique 
screens, user-specific dashboards, and business rules that apply only to it, 
and are only visible to it. 

   

Response: 
DE-7 Security rules: Solution must have robust security rules, allowing 

multiple agencies or divisions to share specific data while restricting other 
data from view. 

   

Response: 
 
CASE FINANCIALS 
 

# REQUIREMENT COMPLIES 

YES PARTIAL NO 

F Financials 

F-1 Tills: The software must allow a user to use his/her till at any 
workstation, and then without closing the till or logging out of the system, 
allow the same user to log into another workstation(s) and continue to take 
payments against the same till. 

   

Response: 

F-2 Integrated fees: The software must maintain standard tables for costs, 
fees, and fines, and provide for the integrated collection, allocation, and 
tracking of these items. 

   

Response: 
F-3 Configurable: The software must provide the ability to compute fines 

and fees using a configurable model and not using business rules or code 
to determine the fines and fees. The configurable aspects of the fines  
and  fees must provide effective to and from dates to allow the court to 
update and make effective the fine and fee assessments. The system 
must be able to be configured to assess the fine or fee based on charge 
date as opposed to filing date. 

   

Response: 

F-4 Calculate fines: The software must compute and enter fines, fees, and 
restitution based on court orders or the occurrence of other Court-
defined activities (e.g., creation of initial case, addition of charges). 

   

Response: 
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F-5 Payment schedules: The software must create payment schedules, 

collect payments, apply payments collected to scheduled amount due 
(e.g., amount in judgment), and produce reports on overdue amounts. 

   

Response: 
F-6 Taking payment: The software must allow for full, partial, and 

installment payments using multiple payment types, including 
check, credit card, and cash. It must allow multiple payment types in 
a single transaction, and must associate payment with proper case 
and person. 

   

Response: 
F-7 Single payment for multiple cases: The software must allow single 

payment for multiple cases with capability to process separately for 
each case. 

   

Response: 
F-8 Non-collectables: The software must enable Court to track 

payments made on financial obligations that are not payable to 
Court. 

   

Response: 
F-9 Record funds collected: The software must enable Court to 

record funds collected from other state, local, and private agencies 
for payment of specific case and offender costs and  fees. 

   

Response: 
F-10 Tills: The software must compute totals, list transactions and balance, 

and print reports for each cash drawer, register, cashier, and payment 
type.  Court must have ability to modify default financial report without 
going through vendor. 

   

Response: 
F-11 Disbursing funds: The software must allow flexible, user-defined and - 

maintained account structure that permits funds to be disbursed to 
appropriate case cost types and other accounts (e.g., city, county, state, 
victims) based on court order (e.g., restitution, joint and several 
liabilities). 

   

Response: 
F-12 Allocating payments: The software must allow for automatic or manual 

allocations of payments for one case or multiple case financial 
obligations. Financial obligations on a single case can be allocated to 
more than one agency or individual. 

   

Response: 

F-13 Vouchers: The software must allow for printing of vouchers or 
checks back to Macon-Bibb County accounts. 

   

Response: 

F-14 Receipts: The software must generate and print receipts for clients or 
payees. Court must be able to configure default receipts, both during 
implementation and afterwards, to include whatever information it 
wants, without having to go through vendor. Information may include 
but is not limited to identifiers such as fee, fine, restitution code, 
location, address, amount collected, payment type, installment or partial 
payment plan, next due date, and balance). 

   

Response: 
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F-15 Storing receipts: The software must automatically store receipts 

with appropriate case or individual record, allowing Court to reprint 
if/when desired. 

   

Response: 
F-16 Multiple receipts: The software must generate and print (including 

ability to reprint) multiple receipts from one financial transaction 
covering payment for multiple cases. 

   

Response: 
F-17 Detailed financial reports: The software must be able to produce 

detailed and summary lists of financial transactions, including at least 
fee, fine, restitution receipts, court cost assessments, fee assessments, 
monetary judgments, and voided transactions (listed by type or 
chronologically) for specific cases and over specific periods (e.g., daily, 
monthly, for life of case). 

   

Response: 
F-18 Late payments: The software must identify and record payment 

delinquencies, generate alerts when scheduled payments are not made 
(e.g., for unpaid assessments now due), and take or prompt user to 
take appropriate action (e.g., refer to collection agency, or notify 
appropriate court and judge). 

   
 
 
 

Response: 
 F-19 Batch reports & letters for late payments: The software must provide 
for Court-defined batch style delinquent payment report generation and 
printing, as well as batch delinquent payment letters. Reports and letters 
must be able to include any Court-defined information, and Court must 
be able to edit these and/or create alternative delinquent payment 
reports/letters at will and without going through vendor. 

   

Response: 
 
 
 
TICKET INFORMATION MANAGEMENT SERVICES 
 

# REQUIREMENT COMPLIES 

YES PARTIAL NO 

TM Ticket Information Management Services  

TM-1 Data entry software with stringent controls and edits to ensure that all manual 
city-entered citation data are transmitted and updated accurately, including 
ticket issue date, time, and location, Issuing agency, citation number, license 
plate, state, violation number, and vehicle Identification number. 
 

   

Response: 
TM-2 Ticket and correspondence imaging with a processing log that records all 

correspondence received. 
 

   

Response: 
TM-3 Internet-based payment of citations 24/7 with real-time access to the database. 

 
   

Response: 
TM-4 Secure processing of payments received with audit trails and full accountability 

of individual transactions. 
 

   

Response: 
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TM-5 Point-of-sale cashiering that accommodates acceptance of a  "skeleton" 

payment for citations not yet in the system and detailed transaction audit trails 
for accountability. 
 

   

Response: 
TM-6 Preparation and mailing to include payment of postage of Debt collection and 

failure to appear notices to defendants in all cases as well as notice 
management with complete notice registers and history for tracking and 
verifying the accuracy of mailings. 
 

   

Response: 
TM-7 Imaging and workflow management for all handwritten tickets and 

correspondence. 
 

   

Response: 
TM-8 Hearing scheduling/docketing with an Imaging system that provides judges 

electronic access to view all Court-related documents to help adjudication. 
 

   

Response: 
TM-9 Data archiving of fully auditable records In compliance with law and electronic 

data.  
 

   

Response: 
TM-10 Automated on demand printing capability for the notice of withdrawal of 

driver's license suspension (i.e., the old DPS912) 
 

   

Response: 
TM-11 A "Warrant clear'' screen with automated printing capability for filling in all 

pertinent information on the "warrant recall" form. 
 

   

Response: 
TM-12 Automated printing capability for Failure to Appear notices for defendants who 

violated environmental codes and then failed to appear In Court as scheduled. 
 

   

Response: 
TM-13 Automated cost-shifting to the violator for banks' credit and debit card 

transaction fees and fees paid to the Georgia Department of Revenue or other 
state agency. every time the Department of Driver services Identifies the owner 
of a vehicle cited for overtime parking. 
 

   

Response: 
 
COURT COMPLIANCE SERVICES 
 

# REQUIREMENT COMPLIES 

YES PARTIAL NO 

CC Court Compliance Services 

CC-1 Online cashiering. 
 

   

Response: 

 CC-2 Debt collection noticing. 
 

   
Response: 

 CC-3 Installment payment processing that includes real-time information on the 
plan's status history. 
 

   

Response: 
 CC-4 Hearing scheduling for complete Court calendar functionality. 

 
   

Response: 
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 CC-5 Locate services with interface with the National Change of Address (NCOA) 

database to secure updated addresses for letters currently marked as 
undeliverable. 
 

   

Response: 
CC-6 Ability to display an indigence determination entered by a court clerk based on 

rules set by the Municipal Court. 
 

   

Response: 
CC-7 Credit bureau reporting for delinquent debts of more than $50 for parking 

tickets and also for all other citations with overdue fines of more than $50 for 
which warrants have not yet been issued. 
 

   

Response: 
 
WARRANT MANAGEMENT SERVICES 

 

# REQUIREMENT COMPLIES 

YES PARTIAL NO 

WM Warrant Management Services 

WM-1 Daily updated electronic Interface with the probation warrant activities of the 
private probation services company Daily updated electronic interface with the 
warrant-related activities of the Macon Police Department. 
 

   

Response: 

 WM-2 Daily updated electronic interface with the Georgia Crime Information Center 
(GCIC) and the National Crime Information Center (NCIC). 
 

   

Response: 

 WM-3 Validating all warrants daily before entry into GCIC/NCIC Entry of validated 
warrants into GCIC/NCIC. 
 

   

Response: 
 WM-4 Recording disposition of warrants. 

 
   

Response: 
 WM-5 Weekly reports on warrant activities of the preceding week, Including numbers 

and dollar amounts of warrants. 
 

   

Response: 
WM-6 "Warrant clear''' screen with automated printing capability for filling In all 

pertinent information on the “warrant. 
   

Response: 
 
BOOTING AND TOWING ENFORCEMENT SERVICES 

 

# REQUIREMENT COMPLIES 

YES PARTIAL NO 

BT Booting and Towing Services 

BT-1 Daily updated electronic Interface for authorized software users with the private 
towing company under contract with the City. 
 

   

Response: 

 BT-2 Daily updated electronic Interface with the ticketing, booting, and towing-
related activities of the Macon Police Department to authorized software users. 
 

   

Response: 
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 BT-3 Daily updated electronic interface with the overtime parking enforcement 

related activities of the Macon Police Department or of any contractor engaged 
to provide parking management services in connection with the installation of 
parking meters in the City to authorized software users. 
 
 

   

Response: 
 BT-4 Validating boot-eligibility of vehicles on the boot list, which must be updated 

daily.  
 

   

Response: 
 BT-5 Maintaining accurate and daily updated log of vehicles that are eligible for   

booting. 
 

   

Response: 
BT-6 Electronically providing valid, real-time electronic Interface information to 

authorized users of the Macon Police Department on vehicles eligible for 
booting. 
 

   

Response: 
BT-7 Generating monthly and ad hoc boot eligibility and disposition reports that 

that are made available to authorized users that list all identifying 
information of boot-eligible and already booted vehicles, the numbers of 
such vehicles and the dollar amounts involved. 

   

Response: 
 

 
DEBT RECOVERY SERVICES 

 

# REQUIREMENT COMPLIES 

YES PARTIAL NO 

DR Debt Recovery Services 

DR-1 Make reasonable efforts to recover all Court-related debts (other than those 
incurred by non-compliant probationers) on all overdue, past-due, and 
delinquent accounts.  
 

   

Response: 

 DR-2 Comply where applicable with the Fair Debt Collection Practices ACT 
(FDCPA). Collection efforts should be performed on all delinquent debt as the 
statute of limitations on unpaid Municipal Court fines legally allows. 
 

   

Response: 

 DR-3 Generate all debt recovery notices in accordance with specific criteria requested 
by the MBC and sent on a recurring basis in a volume agreed to in advance by 
the clerk of Court. 
 

   

Response: 
 DR-4 Electronically report delinquent accounts to one or more credit reporting 

agencies. 
 

   

Response: 
 DR-5 Process and account for each debt recovery payment within twenty-four (24) 

hours of receipt and place it in the same bank account of the MBC into which 
all other accounts receivable payments of the Court are deposited. 
 

   

Response: 
DR-6 Electronically transmit a monthly report to Clerk of Court that details all debt 

recovery activity by noticing, outgoing phone calls, and reporting to credit 
reporting agencies during the preceding month. 

   

Response: 
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